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THE STRUGGLE FOR THE
WESTERN SAHARA

Part lI: Contemporary Politics

While other African states were
gaining their independence after
World War 1l, Spain resisted pres-
sures to decolonize the Western
Sahara. Generalissimo Franco was
gradually forced to recognize that
the best Spain could do would be to
grant political independence under a
local regime that would protect
Spanish economic interests. What
should have remained a procedural
negotiation between Spain and the
Sahrawi, however, escalated into a
conflict that threatens peace
throughout the region. The dispute
has created rifts especially among
the members of the Organization of
African Unity. Moreover, U.S. and
European strategic and economic
interests, expressed through policies
that encourage Moroccan ambitions
in the area, have raised the specter
of Super Power involvement.

* ¥ ¥ ¥ 0¥

The United Nations had never been
impressed with Spain’s 1958 decla-
ration of the Western Sahara as a
province, seeing the djemaa merely
as a transparent effort by Spain to
create a local government made up
of persons owing their status to
Spain. In 1964 a special UN com-
mittee called on Spain to grant
independence to the Western
Sahara; this was approved in a
General Assembly resolution in
1965. In 1966 the General Assembly
in Resolution 2229 (XXI) invited
Spain to hold a referendum under
UN auspices ‘‘in conformity with the
aspirations of the indigenous people
of the Spanish Sahara and in con-
sultation with the governments of
Mauritania and Morocco and any
other interested party.” The resolu-

*Accent marks for the term Sahrawi
must be applied to this typeface by hand;
thus they are used only on page one.

tion also. requested the Secretary
General of the United States to
““appoint immediately a special mis-
sion to be sent to the Spanish
Sahara for the purpose of recom-
mending practical steps for the full
implementation of the relevant reso-
lutions of the General Assembly and
in particular for determining the
extent of United Nations participa-
tion in the preparation and super-
vision of the referendum.”’

Thereafter, similar resolutions were
passed each year, but Spain took no
action. In 1972, the United Nations
in General Assembly Resolution
2983 (XXVIl) deplored that the
“administering power has not pro-
vided sufficiently clear information
on the conditions and timetable it
intends to apply in bringing about
the complete decolonization of the
territory.”’

According to legal theorist Thomas
Franck, the Western Sahara case
was “monumentally mishandled,
creating a precedent with potential
for mischief out of all proportion to
the importance of the territory.””1
The UN'’s repeated calls for Spain to
decolonize masked an ““acceleration
of efforts by all [these interested]
parties to arrange their preferred
outcome behind a facade of support
for self-determination.”

Other international bodies passed
similar resolutions. As long ago as
the early 1960s the Organization of
African Unity (OAU) affirmed the
rights of the Sahrawt people to self-
determination. In 1976, two days
after the Saharan Arab Democratic
Republic was proclaimed, the QAU
Council of Ministers passed a resolu-
tion that: “’Like any other people, the
Sahrawi people have the right to self-
determination and independence. |t

has effectively exercised this right in
creating a sovereign and inde-
pendent republic.” By this time, the
Polisario Front had been recognized
as the legitimate representative of
the Sahrawr people, first by the
OAU, then by the Nonaligned
Movement and, in 1975, by the
United Nations.

Colonial Boundaries or “’Historic
Ties''?

When the Organization of African
Unity was formed in the early 1960s
its members made the important
decision, enshrined as a principle of
the OAU Charter, that the colonial
boundaries should be recognized as
the basis for defining the new inde-
pendent states, and that this might
be abrogated only by the clear vote
of the people concerned. Only
Somalia and Morocco dissented.

African leaders recognized the arti-
ficiality of these divisions but they
feared the chaos they believed
would result from any attempt to
redraw national boundaries, fears
that have amply been borne out in
the Biafran secession, which re-
sulted in a long and bloody civil war
in Nigeria, and elsewhere. Ironically,
King Hassan's government upheld
Nigeria's right to maintain its terri-
torial integrity , for it was during the
Nigerian civil war that Morocco
began again to assert its “historic
rights to sovereignty’” over the
Western Sahara.

The present-day Sahrawi emerged
as a distinct people in the Western
Sahara generations ago (see Part |).
Moreover, during the nineteenth
century when Spain had difficuity
subduing the indigenous people,
appeals to Morocco for assistance
were met with unambiguous de-
nials of its authority over the people.
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Historian Sir Geoffrey Furionge con-
firms this view:

The Moroccan claim of “historical
rights”” over either the Spanish
Sahara or Mauritania appears to be
based solely on an expedition
undertaken in the thirteenth century
by the greatest of the Saadian
Suftans, Ahmad al Mansur, who
crossed ““Shangit”’ to discover, and
if possible occupy, the sources of
gold and salt which his country had
long been obtaining from further
south.... His successors, however,
seem to have lost interest in the
southern regions and evacuated
them, since when Morocco has
exercised no authority south of the
northern fimits of Spanish Sahara.
In other words, the Moroccan claim
is, at best, tenuous.2

Instead, as Sir Geoffrey reminds us,
had the people of Mauritania and
the Western Sahara wished to
counter Morocco’s claims, ““being
of the same basic stock as the
Almoravids [they] might therefore
claim historic rights over Morocco
on the grounds of their ancestors’
hundred-year occupation of the
country.”’

A consensus was finally achieved
among Morocco, Algeria, and
Mauritania that the Sahrawi people
had the right to self-determination —
" at least in opposing Spanish colo-
nialism—and each supported the
call for a referendum. There was
considerable disagreement about
the nature of this self-determination,
however, and the probable results.
Morocco apparently believed that
the referendum would produce a
favorable vote by the Sahrawi for
integration with Morocco.

All political groups in Morocco
expected that self-determination to
be expressed through tribal
notables would result in a demand
to be reunited with the “Mother-
land,” and Hassan had instituted a
carefully orchestrated campaign to
ensure international support for
Morocco’s claims. Emissaries from
all Moroccan political parties were
sent to Middle Eastern and East
European states to explain Mo-
rocco’s case.... An agreement had
already been made with Mauritania
over the eventual division of the
territory, Mauritania’s support
having been gained after Morocco’s
claim over Mauritania itself [hitherto

considered by the King as part of
“greater Morocco”] had been aban-
doned during a meeting between
King Hassan and President Ould
Daddah. Algeria, at the time, was
quite prepared for the Sahara to be
reunited with Morocco, provided
that she was satisfied that this
mirrored the wishes of the Saharaoui
population.3

Algeria never laid claim to any part
of the Western Sahara.

Polisario pronouncements in 1973
caused a dramatic change in Mo-
rocco’s strategy. Instead of a refer-
endum, Morocco proposed to the
United Nations that the matter of
sovereignty be referred instead to
the International Court of Justice at
The Hague. Mauritania supported
this move and on December 13,
1974, the General Assembly passed
a resolution to postpone the refer-
endum it had previously recom-
mended, and to organize a mission
to visit the Western Sahara. Spain
objected to the intervention of the
International Court, but was power-
less to resist. It therefore “‘wel-
comed’’ the mission, clearly expect-
ing the report would affirm an
arrangement for independence that
would protect Spanish interests
against the Moroccan threat of
annexation.

Even while the members of the UN
mission were packing their bags, a
new arrangement was being made
behind the scenes. When the secret
agreement  between  Spain,
Morocco, and Mauritania was
revealed in October 1974, it de-
stroyed the common, though un-
easy, front Algeria and Morocco had
presented toward Spain. Algeria
had not forgotten that Morocco
had, in their 1963 war, ‘“tried to
capture the valuable iron ore
deposits near Tindouf, close to the
frontier between the two countries
and would probably have succeeded
in doing so had President Nasser of
Egypt not sent the Algerians
essential military aid in the nick of
time.”’4 If Morocco were allowed to
expand into the Western Sahara,
what would prevent a renewal of its
claims to the Tindouf region?

The UN Investigative Mission

The United Nations team which was
sent to the Western Sahara was
made up of representatives from the
lvory Coast, Cuba, and Iran, and

was charged with gathering in-
formation on the political, eco-
nomic, social, cultural, and educa-
tional conditions in the Spanish
Sahara. Its most important respon-
sibility, however, was to the wishes
and aspirations of the people in
relation to the ambitions of Spain,
Morocco, and Mauritania.

The mission spent the months of
May and June 1974 traveling
throughout the Western Sahara. It
also visited Sahrawi living as
refugees in Morocco, Mauritania,
and Algeria.

The team came to two important
conclusions. First, it found that the
Sahrawi were in favor of inde-
pendence and strongly opposed to
the integration of their territory with
that of any of their neighbors.
Second, it concluded that the
Polisario Front was the true repre-
sentative of the political aspirations
of the people of the Western
Sahara.

Hitherto, the Polisario Front, despite
its guerrilla activity since 1973, had
been considered little more than a
clandestine movement without a
significant following. The strength
of its support visible in popular
demonstrations was as much a
surprise to Spain as to the UN
mission. As noted in Part |, in order
to buy food and water, most of the
people belonged to the official party
{PUNS), which had organized public
demonstrations to welcome the
mission in all the towns and cities
visited; on each occasion, however,
the team was greeted by the
Polisario flag rather than the PUNS
party banner.5

Presentation of the UN mission’s
report was delayed for more than a
year. In the meantime the Inter-
national Court of Justice had ruled
and Morocco, in defiance, began its
attempt to occupy the territory with
its military forces. When, on
November 7, 1975, the mission
formally recommended that steps
be taken to enable the population to
decide its own future in complete
freedom and in an atmosphere of
peace and security, the Western
Sahara had already been invaded.

The International Court of Justice
Decision

The International Court was asked
to determine whether or not the
Western Sahara had been a



““territory belonging to no one”
(terra nullius) at the time of its
colonization. It was also asked to
determine what, if any, legal ties
there were between the peoples of
the Western Sahara and those of
Mauritania and Morocco at the time
of colonization.

The first problem was to determine
the date of Spanish colonization.
Although Spain maintained that
there was evidence of its sover-
eignty from as early as the fifteenth
century, the Court fixed on 1884 as
the effective date when the region
had first become a Spanish colony.
The Court then found in favor of the
claims of Spain and of the indige-
nous people—namely, that on
evidence of the original treaties
signed by Spain with the local
chiefs, the region was not terra
nullius at the time of colonization.

The question of ‘legal ties”
between the Sahrawi people and
those indigenous to Mauritania and
Morocco prior to 1884 was more
complicated. Morocco’s claims
were based on its assertion that the
indigenous people had shown alle-
giance to the Sultan who had im-
posed taxes on them, and that the
local rulers had derived their
authority from the Sultan who had
also appointed their local Islamic
religious leaders. Common ethnic,
cultural, and religious ties were also
cited and the military cooperation
which had existed between Mo-
roccans and the Sahrawi at the time
when French and Spanish troops
were fighting to gain control over
the area. The separation of the
region of the Western Sahara from
Morocco was, the latter asserted, a
recent event brought on by Spanish
and French imperialism.

Spain introduced evidence to con-
tradict Morocco's version of the his-
tory of the Western Sahara. Accord-
ing to Spain, none of the nomadic
groups within the Western Sahara
had ever given allegiance to the
Sultan; the only groups acknowl-
edging his rule lived in southern
Morocco. As to the religious
authority at the time of colonization,
this too, Spain maintained, had
been completely independent of the
Sultan. Spain also pointed to the
lack of any evidence that “‘tribes’” in
the Western Sahara had ever paid
taxes to the Sultan.

Mauritania’s definition of the “‘en-
tity’’ over which it claimed sover-
eignty at the time of colonization
included the area from Senegal to
Saquiet al-Hamra. Called Shinguitti,
it was at the time in question, Mauri-
tania maintained, in the hands of the
Emir of Adrar. Mauritania also
argued cultural and ethnic ties
existed between its population and
that of the Western Sahara.

Spain countered by noting the well-
established fact that the emirate of
Adrar was autonomous, distinct
from the emirates in the south of
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Shinguitti and separate from the
independent nomadic groups in the
north and the west. Moreover, said
Spain, at the time of colonization,
the emirate of Adrar was under-
going grave internal troubles and
was, in fact, in a state of anarchy.
Spain asserted that there was no
proof of ties of allegiance between
the “tribes’” in the Western Sahara
and those of Mauritania or of the
emirate of Adrar.

Although Morocco temporarily
dropped its concept of Greater
Morocco, its territorial claims, as put

King Hassan's View of Greater Morocco
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before the International Court of
Justice, extended southward and
included parts of the Western
Sahara that overlapped with Mauri-
tania’s claims for its precolonial
sovereignty. Since the two coun-
tries were collaborating behind the
scenes to take over the Western
Sahara, at the Court they agreed
their sovereign territories met at
the point of intersection of the
northern area of Saguiet el-Hamra
and the southern Rio de Oro, the
regions established by Spain.
Jointly they maintained that no
geographical void, or ““no man's
land,” separated the two parts of
the Western Sahara. According to
them, their separate claims were
precisely defined by these regions
which happily met at the adminis-
trative boundary created by Spain.
The 16 judges of the International
Court disagreed, saying that this
was a crucial element in the
complex situation. To speak of a
“north” and a “south’” with no
overlapping or void between
peoples could not, according to this
learned body, reflect the true situa-
tion.

A further complicating factor noted
by the Court was the existence of
nomadic groups from the Western
Sahara who ranged over an area
including parts of present-day
Algeria. However, the Algerian dele-
gate to the Court denied any binding
association, other than Islam,
among the peoples of the Western
Sahara and those of adjacent states,
including Algeria.

On October 16, 1975, the Interna-
tional Court of Justice gave its
ruling. On the question of whether
the territory at the time of coloniza-
tion was terra nullius, the ruling was
unanimously negative. As to the
existence of legal ties between the
peoples of the Western Sahara and
the Sultan of Morocco, 14 of the 16
judges ruled that some of the tribes
did have such ties. Similarly, by a
vote of fifteen to one, the Court
ruled that such tribes also had ties
with people living in the ““Mauri-
tanian entity’”” and that the ties
included some rights to land. How-
ever, according to the Court, none
of these ties constituted a state of
territorial sovereignty between the
Western Sahara and Morocco or
Mauritania. Thus there were no legal
ties that might affect the application
of Resolution 1514 (XV) in the

Western Sahara and the principle of
self-determination through the free
and genuine expression of the will of
the people of the territory.

The Green March

After the Court’s decision had been
announced, Morocco came to what
Thomas Franck has described as a
“remarkable conclusion...worthy of
the perverse Red Queen in Lewis
Carroll's Through the Looking
Glass, that the opinion of the Court
can only mean one thing: that the
so-called Western Sahara was part
of the Moroccan territory over
which the sovereignty was exercised
by the Kings of Morocco and that
the population of this territory
considered themselves and were
considered to be Moroccans.... To-
day Moroccan demands have been
recognized by the legal advisory
organ of the United Nations.”’6

On November 4, less than three
weeks after the Court’s decision had
been announced, and despite efforts
by Costa Rica, Sweden, and Spain
to enforce a Security Council pro-
hibition, 350,000 unarmed civilians
carrying Korans marched into the
Western Sahara to demonstrate
their historic territorial rights to the
area.

Projected abroad as a nonviolent
“green’”” or “peace” march, its
internal title, massirat fath, was
more in keeping with the holy war
nationalism by which Hassan
brought the Moroccan people
behind him in Octaber 1975. To the
outside world, the march was pre-
sented as a brave crusade to free the
Sahrawis from one of the last im-
perialists, Spain. This was easily
enough contrived, given the media’s
lack of knowledge about ““Spanish”
Sahara and the unsavory reputation
of the Franco regime. The dust of
Hassan’s 350,000 marching subjects
on the coast diverted attention from
the entry of the Forces Armees
Royales (FAR) across the infand end
of the frontier with Western
Sahara.?

Within the Security Council there
were further consultations, and
France and the United States were
successful in dissuading those
members who were clamoring for a
Security Council order to halt the
march. On the night of November b,
just as the marchers were crossing
the border, an emergency meeting
was held and the next day a

watered-down resolution was pub-
lished ““deploring’” Morocco’s action
and asking that it withdraw from the
territory and resume negotiations.

Hassan had hoped to impress the
world community as well as his own
people with a false military victory,
pretending that his 350,000 civilians
routed the Spanish colonizers and
reclaimed their lost territory by
marching, unarmed, into the guns of
the Spanish military. The truth of
the matter was that a secret agree-
ment with Madrid had produced an
abrupt order to the Spanish forces
in the area to hand over the territory
to the advancing Moroccan troops.
(Franco was on his deathbed at the
time, and the order led to consid-
erable dissension within the Spanish
Army.) The real obstacle, however,
was the Polisario. Two top Spanish
officers, speaking before the Cortes
in March 1978, confirmed the UN
Mission’s  conclusions: Polisario
represented the Sahrawis in their
wish for “‘total” independence. War
began.

The Tripartite Agreement

King Hassan’s secret arrangements
with Spain went further than the
military farce in the desert. On
November 8 the Spanish minister
attached to the Prime Minister's
office visited Morocco and on the
following day the Green Marchers
were ordered to return to Morocco.
On November 14, 1975, in a joint
communique issued from Madrid,
the general terms of the agreement,
but not the full text, were
announced.8

Two-thirds of the territory (above a
line from just north of Dakhla to the
Zouerate curve) was to be given to
Morocco. Mauritania got the short
end of the stick: its share was the
southern third plus an unknown
share of the phosphate resources.
The Spanish civilian population in
the Western Sahara, shocked by
what was happening to them and
well aware of what had happened to
the civilians in Spanish Guinea, were
offered inducements by Madrid to
leave the territory.

A timetable for the withdrawal of
the Spanish military forces had been
agreed upon earlier and a three-
power transitional administration
was set up, to end February 26,
1976. (In reality, Spain withdrew
immediately as Morocco occupied
the territory under the guise of the



Green March and control was trans-
ferred without delay to Mauritania
and Morocco.) The possibility of
establishing Spanish military bases
at a later date was also included in
the negotiations.

Morocco agreed on a ‘“‘period of
tolerance” for the Spanish presidios,
Ceuta and Melilla, situated on Mo-
roccan territory, and agreed it
might help Spain to put pressure on
the British presidio by withdrawing
its labor force from Gibraltar. The
agreement gave Spain a 35 percent
share in the Bu Craa phosphate
mine (see Part I} with a right to take
a similar proportion of the output at
the current price. Spanish fishing
rights in the area were limited to 800
vessels in the annexed waters and
200 vessels in Mauritanian waters. A
further boost to the Moroccan
fishing industry was agreed on at
the time and announced in 1977.
This included a $44 million loan from
Spain to buy boats, set up a
processing industry, improve its port
facilites, and open a training
school.9

The tripartite agreement recognized
the indigenous population only by
including a provision that the wishes
of the Sahrawi, as represented by
the djemaa, would be respected.
The djemaa itself was called upon to
ratify the agreement. (While Mo-
rocco had previously denounced
this assembly as incapable of speak-
ing in the name of the population of
the Western Sahara, it now found it
convenient to claim that the agree-
ment had been ratified by two-thirds
majority of this body. King Hassan
had offered the members of the
assembly financial inducement for
their support and the President,
Sheikh Said ould Khatri, is said to
have been paid an enormous sum
[to which the Spanish also con-
tributed] to insure his backing.)

Evidence indicates that the fateful
meeting of the djemaa was attended
by only one-quarter of its members.
Moreover, the Polisario claimed that
two-thirds of those present had
already proclaimed its dissolution,
and had shifted their allegiance to
the Polisario.10

Reaction within the UN was con-
fused, as reflected in the two Reso-
lutions that followed. The first, 3548
(XXX) A, requested Spain to
organize a referendum under UN

auspices to allow for the free ex-
pression of the peoples of the
Western Sahara. The second, 3458
{(XXX) B, took note of the tripartite
agreement and requested ‘“‘the
parties to the Madrid agreement on
November 14, 1975 to insure respect
for the freely expressed aspirations
of the Saharan populations.”” Thus,
while the General Assembly
appeared to hold Spain responsible
for arranging a plebiscite, it also
implicitly recognized the tripartite
agreement. Since the territory had
already been divided between
Morocco and Mauritania, “expect-
ing those countries to conduct a
free consultation after having occu-
pied their respective sectors,”
according to Franck, ““was like in-
viting the cat to consult the
canaries.”’

Twenty-nine of the forty African
states voted in favor of the first
resolution, eleven abstained. Only
12 African nations voted in favor of
the second, 21 opposed, and 8
abstained. The vote of the United
States is significant: it abstained
from voting in the first resolution
and voted in favor of the second
which failed to censure the illegal
occupation. In 1976 the UN post-
poned further consideration of the
conflict in the Western Sahara while
welcoming OAU attempts to solve
the problem.

Internationalization of the Conflict

Since 1973, the Polisario Front had
been carrying out guerrilla raids
against the Spanish, whose control
was already limited to towns and
phosphate installations. The guer-
rillas were armed mainly with
weapons captured from the Spanish
Army, although a certain amount of
aid had been obtained from Libya.1

When Moroccan troops replaced
Spanish, under the cover of the
Green March, they became the
principal target of Polisario attacks.

During the first confrontations, the
Polisario was heavily outnumbered
by the U.S.- and French-equipped
Moroccan Army with its jet fighters,
airlifted troops, and artillery. Mauri-
tania joined in the war in December
1975, after its own military capacity
had been strengthened by arms
received from France. From the
beginning of the war, however,
Mauritania was forced to rely
heavily on Moroccan support be-
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cause of the inability and unwilling-
ness of its own army to engage the
Polisario.

Dismissed as a ‘‘minor policing
operation”” by King Hassan and
Ould Daddah (Mauritania’s head of
state), the early days of the war
brought terrible sufferings to the
civilians as military operations were
directed against them rather than
the elusive Polisario guerrilla forces.
Morocco remembered the lessons
of history: the only way any foreign
power had gained control over the
Western Sahara was by applying a
scorched earth policy. The besieged
towns were encircled with barbed
wire and armed police, but some
100,000 women and children es-
caped without food or water into
the inhospitable desert, the first of
tens of thousands of refugees.

[ll-equipped to cope with the dis-
aster, the Polisario was forced to
turn its attention to the protection of
the civilian population. Temporary
refugee camps were set up in the
interior, but none was safe from
attack. By early 1976, a number of
international groups were referring
to the war as one of genocide, as
napalm bombs were dropped from
French Jaguars against civilians
who had fled to camps at Tifariti and
Bir Lahlou. Other camps were sub-
jected to rocket bombardment and
heavy machine-gun fire. Civilians -
were fleeing from all corners of the
country. Many who escaped the
gunfire died of thirst, hunger, or
cold or fell victim to landmines and
poisoned wells. Others were simply
lost in the desert. Describing the
situation the Polisario faced, one
veteran of the period said: “We had
to look for civilians. We found them
behind rocks, hiding under trees,
without protection. A combatant
would gladily have given a woman or
a child or an old man his coat, but he
had no coat of his own to give.” 12

In February 1976 the International
Federation of Human Rights, only
one of many such groups to visit the
scene, reported that:

The invasion has been accom-
plished by innumerable exactions on
persons of all ages and condi-
tions...the soldiers of the two
occupying countries have butchered
(égorgé) hundreds and perhaps
thousands of Sahrawis, including
children and old people who refused
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to publicly acknowledge the King of
Morocco...some have seen their
children killed in front of them by
way of intimidation...women de-
scribed to us how they have been
tortured...and how soldiers had cut
off young men’s fingers to make
them unable to fight.. .80 percent of
the inhabitants of El Aioun have
left...defenseless refugee camps
have been bombarded.l

" Algeria’s attitude toward Morocco
had altered after details of the tri-
partite agreement had been leaked
in 1974, but it was the scale of the
atrocities against civilians that
prompted Algeria to action. The
government offered the Polisario
refuge inside Algerian borders and
allowed it also to establish camps
for Sahrawi civilians.

After initial defeats by the Moroccan
and Mauritanian Armies, but with
new Algerian cooperation, the
Polisario changed strategy, estab-
lishing its main headquarters near
Tindouf. Although the Moroccans
had occupied all settlements and
outposts, the Polisario was able,
through lightning strikes by a highly
mobile force using all-terrain ve-
hicles armed with machine guns,
recoil-less rifles, rocket launchers,
and antiaircraft guns, to success-
fully attack economically vital tar-
gets.

From the outset, these attacks

affected wider international interests
as well. The multinational-owned

phosphate mine at Bu Craa, con-
nected to the port near El Aaiun by
the 96-kilometer conveyor belt, was
an obvious and fairly easy target. It
had been under seige in 1975, but
the belt had been spared when it
appeared that Spain was genuinely
backing a referendum. Now, with
the war in full swing, it was
destroyed; the mine was finally
closed in June 1977.

The Polisario then concentrated on
its weaker southern enemy, Mauri-
tania, where many people supported
the Sahrawi cause. In June 1976 a
raid against Nouakchott demon-
strated the Polisario’s ability to
operate as far as 2,000 kilometers
from its bases. (The U.S. Embassy
in Nouakchott was also hit by
shells.) More successes followed. In
May 1977, Zouerate, the site of the
French-controlled iron ore mine,
came under attack: two French
technicians were killed and six
others taken captive. The railway
line connecting the iron ore mine
with the coast was also cut by re-
peated attacks. Attacks on Spanish
fishing vessels led to withdrawal of
the fleet in December 1977.

The result of success was to widen
the war. Whereas France had
publicly asserted its neutrality
during the first two years, while

A Sahrawi boy watches visitors at the
Tindouf refugee camp.

Combatants around a fire in the
Polisario-occupied zone.

supplying arms to Morocco and
Mauritania, attacks on Zouerate
threatened Mauritania’s tottering
economy and reduced France’s iron
ore supply. The taking of French
hostages was the last straw: France
withdrew French technicians (who
had been unofficially servicing
military equipment) from Zoureate
and openly entered the war.

By November 1977 France had
made a complete aerial survey of the
desert and paratroopers were
moved into Senegal and Mauritania.
On December 2 the French made an
air attack on a Polisario outpost
inside Mauritania. Although their
excuse for entering the war—the
French hostages—was removed
when the Polisario released them,
France continued both the air
attacks and the build-up of forces in
Senegal and Mauritania. Civilian
vacancies at the Zoureate mines
were filled by military personnel and
the war was directed by French
officers. The French Navy patrolied
the waters of the Mauritanian zone
of the Western Sahara.

lvory Coast was also drawn into
the conflict. In a visit to Abidjan,



President Giscard d'Estaing secured
President Houphouet-Boigny's sup-
port for Morocco and his approval
of French intervention against the
Polisario.1® Giscard d’Estaing was
now able to state openly that France
would continue to support Mauri-
tania indefinitely, and President
QOuld Daddah announced that he did
not “know if French military
presence [in Mauritania] should be
counted in months or years.”” 15

Very early in the conflict the myth
had been created that the war in the
Western Sahara had been initiated
by Algeria and that the Polisario
were actually Algerian mercenaries.
According to this version, the
refugees in the camps near Tindouf
were simply Tuareg nomads who
had fled the Sahelian drought, many
of whom had been forced into the
Algerian army. In 1977, Morocco,
blaming Algeria for the heightening
tension in the Western Sahara and
claiming that the Polisario was
Algeria’s invention, cabled the UN
Security Council, demanding that
Algerian activities be restrained
since the people of the Sahara had
already been given the opportunity
to express freely their desire to join
their motherland under the Madrid
agreement. 16 There is, however,
public evidence of Algeria’s direct
participation on only two occasions.
Once, when its army was assisting
the Polisario in evacuating refugees
from the Western Sahara into the
relative safety of the camps inside
Algeria, “an army unit supplying
Polisario was surprised at Amgala
and badly damaged by the Moroc-
cans, Boumedienne's forces retali-
ating soon after by routing a
detachment of Hassan’'s troops at
the same post.”” Morocco then tried
to intimidate Algeria by threatening

a full war between the two
countries. 7
Mauritania’s Defeat

The presence of more than 10,000
Moroccan troops in Mauritania
increased suspicion there about
Rabat’s long-term intentions.
Clashes between the two armies
produced many deaths on both
sides. Early in 1978, Ould Daddah
visited Kaddafi in Libya, creating
more tensions in his relationship
with King Hassan, as it was known
that arms and support had been
coming to the Polisario from Libya
through Algeria.

Ould Daddah had never had an easy
time ruling Mauritania after it gained
its independence in 1960. His one-
party state was fiercely criticized by
those who saw their independence
as merely symbolic since the French
continued effectively to control the
economy. Daddah was forced
eventually to make concessions
which strained his relationship with
France. In 1973 he withdrew from
the franc zone and nationalized the
iron ore mine that produced 80

percent of Mauritania’s export
earnings.
Morocco’s  expansionist  threats

against Mauritania were another
source of anxiety, Morocco having
originally refused even to recognize
that country’s independence, main-
taining that the territory belonged to
’greater Morocco.” These fears had
been partly removed by Morocco’s
recognition, in 1969, of Mauritanian
sovereignty, but Daddah had hoped
that his cooperation in the Madrid
agreement would put the final
touches to the Moroccan-Mauri-
tanian détente.

In 1969, the Sahelian drought had
begun, bringing catastrophic eco-
nomic difficulties for the nomads
and peasant farmers. Many mi-
grated to urban centers in search of
food and employment and, as a
result, Nouakchott and other towns
grew by 300 percent almost over-
night. The fall in iron ore prices had
decreased export earnings, and the
closure of the mines, together with
the costs of the war, were a final
straw for the beleaguered economy.

By July 1978 Mauritania’s external
debt had reached $750 million. Not
only was Daddah’s war with the
Polisario an economic drain, it was
politically and militarily unwinnable.
As a result of internal pressures, the
army took control on July 10, 1978,
and Daddah fled to Paris.18 Two
days after this coup, the Polisario
announced a cease-fire with Mauri-
tania.

Morocco’s immediate reaction to
Mauritania’s withdrawal was to
claim the whole of the Western
Sahara. Troops were moved into
Dakhla (the population of which had
shrunk to 5,000, most of its 15,000
citizens having fled), and in March
1980, in a bizarre attempt to demon-
strate his power, King Hassan
personally visited the town to
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declare it the capital of a new Mo-
roccan province. New York Times
journalist James Markham describes
the scene:

Early this March, amid great military
secrecy, 2,000 catered meals from
the five-star Mamounia Hotel in
Marrakesh, Morocco, were airlifted
to the sun-scorched Sahara and laid
out under brown tents. A dozen
thoroughbred horses and an antique
French carriage—to bear Morocco’s
King Hassan Il in the unlikely event
of rain in the desert—were also
quietly flown in on C-130H trans-
ports to Dakhla, an obscure town on
a spit of land by the sea. The King of
Morocco then packed his top aides,
prime minister, cabinet members
and key military men into two
Boeing 727s, which made the two-
hour flight from Marrakesh to tiny
Dakhla.... The monarch’s French
pilots deftly landed his 747 jumbo jet
on the short airstrip, where a military
honor guard snapped to attention as
the 50-year-old Commander of the
Faithful emerged in a natty yellow
suit and sunglasses. As the King’s
security is a matter of obsessive
concern, none of the soldiers in
Dakhla had ammunition clips in the
M-16 assault rifles. Hassan pinned
green medals on a number of
officers, and brass plaques were
unveiled naming Dakhla streets after
him and his dead father, Moham-
med V. Later, enveloped in tradi-
tional white robes and shielded from
the bright sun by a purple parasol
held aloft by a trudging retainer,
Hassan rode an imported stallion
through Dakhla, which has a
population of possibly 5,000, and
gestured to several hundred duti-
fully cheering men and tattooed,
ululating women.19

King Hassan has not forgotten
Mauritania’s ‘“‘betrayal,” and con-
tinues to threaten its stability. On
March 16, 1981, a small group of
pro-Moroccan Mauritanian officers
living in exile in Senegal moved into
Mauritania in an attempt to seize
power. The assault was timed to
coincide with a meeting of the ruling
Military Committee of National
Salvation, but this had been can-
celed and MCNS head Heydalla was
away in the north at the time,
inspecting defensive positions
against other possible Moroccan
attacks. At least a dozen people
were killed before the coup attempt
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was thwarted. At least three of
those who survived were executed.

The coup attempt sharpened re-
gional alignments. Mauritania broke
off diplomatic relations with Mo-
rocco and is unlikely to remain
neutral in Hassan’s war in the
Western Sahara. Although Mauri-
tania has received military support
from Algeria since the attempted
coup, its need for such aid has
increased in the face of Moroccan
threats to pursue Polisario guerrillas
into its territory.

Morocco, always concerned about
her relations with France, had
consulted with Giscard d’Estaing
before arranging this abortive coup.
It is unlikely that Morocco will be
able to count on such support from
France in the future: the pronounce-
ments of the new socialist govern-
ment under Mitterrand suggest
some changes in foreign policy in
Africa.

Other African Involvement

When the OAU met in Freetown in
July 1980, it was confronted with
several urgent problems. Its earlier
failure to resolve these issues had,
for most observers, emphasized its
impotence to assume responsible
leadership in world affairs. There
was the continuing conflict in Chad,
the recent invasion of Angola by
South Africa, and the question of
recognition of the Doe regime in
Liberia which had been responsible
for the assassination of President
Tolbert, then OAU chairman. Still,
the single issue posing the most
immediate threat to OAU unity, if
not its very survival, was the
application for membership from the
Saharan Arab Democratic Republic
(SADR), represented by the Poli-
sario Front. {In 1979 the UN had
passed another resolution welcom-
ing the peace agreement between
Mauritania and the Polisario Front,
deploring Morocco’s occupation of
the territory from which Mauritania
had withdrawn, and urging Morocco
to join in the peace process. On the
diplomatic front, the next step was
OAU membership.)

In his speech to the OAU summit,
President Machel of Mozambique
did not mince words in his con-
demnation of Morocco.

...colonialism has no color. Colo-
nialism has no race. Colonialism has
no people. A parasite is a parasite

and feeds on blood. Colonialism is a
crime against humanity. Colonialism
is a crime against life. Colonialism is
a cancer which feeds on blood and
human life. It is human beings that
are being slaughtered in Western
Sahara. We know what war means.
War feeds on the blood of children,
men, women, the elderly. And we
have a member of our organization
who practices genocide...if we
cannot tolerate colonialism prac-
ticed by countries from outside the
African continent, neither can we
accept that an African country be-
comes a colonialist...there can be
no unity between us and colonial-
ism. Our duty is to welcome the
Saharan Arab Democratic Republic
into our organization and give it here
the place that belongs to it by right.
We appeal once more to Morocco,
which is heir to glorious anticolonial
traditions, to act in conformity with
the UN and OAU charters and to
recognize the independence of the
Saharan people....20

The rules for membership in the
OAU require an application to be
supported by the recognition of a
simple majority of members. By July
1980 the SADR had been recog-
nized by 26 {(of 50) African states
and by 19 other countries.Voting at
the OAU meeting shou/d have been
a mere formality, but Morocco’s
threat to withdraw was sufficient to
cause a retreat. The OAU “put in
abeyance’” the question of the
SADR’s admission: in the mean-
time, an ad hoc committee was to
meet in Freetown within three
months to ““try to reconcile the
parties and seek a lasting solution.’"21

In September 1980 a “‘mini”’ OAU
summit was held in Freetown,

chaired by President Siaka Stevens,
whose country was among those
that had recognized the SADR. The
plan drawn up there called for a
cease-fire, and a fair and general
referendum organized by the QAU
with assistance from the UN.

Morocco rejected the recommended
cease-fire and the referendum and
opposed further United Nations
involvement; its experiences with
the other OAU member states, par-
ticularly in July, suggested that if
the dispute were confined to the
OAU, it would be able to muster
greater support for its own solution.
Its confidence must have been badly
shaken a month later when the 35th
Session of the UN General Assem-
bly passed yet another resolution
calling on Morocco to withdraw and
to negotiate directly with the
Polisario. Eighty-eight nations voted
in favor and only eight against.22

The lack of unity among OAU
members over the membership
request of SADR must be under-
stood in light of the internal and
external pressures faced by some
African states. A few examples illus-
trate just how economically depen-
dent African nations are on Western
nations, mainly their former colonial
rulers, in shaping foreign policy.

Ever since independence President
Senghor of Senegal has relied
heavily on French support for his
fragile economy. Moreover, even
before the war over the Western
Sahara, he maintained a constant
French military presence in order to
discourage his opposition which
despises the French economic inter-
ests and has, more recently,
expressed support for the Sahrawi.

DIPLOMATIC RECOGNITION FOR SADR

1976: Madagascar, Burundi, Algeria, Benin, Angola, Mozambique,
Guinea-Bissau, Korea (PDRK), Togo, Rwanda

1977: Yemen (PDRY), Seychelles

1978: Congo (PR}, S0 Tomé and Principe, Panama, Equatorial Guinea,
Tanzania

1979: Ethiopia, Vietham, Cambodia, Laos, Afghanistan, Cape Verde,
Grenada, Ghana, Guyana, Dominica, St.
Uganda, Nicaragua, Mexico, Lesotho, Zambia

1980: Cuba, Iran, Sierra Leone, Syria, Libya, Swaziland, Botswana,

Zimbabwe, Chad, Mali, Costa Rica, Vanouato (New Hebrides)

Lucia, Jamaica,




Polisario leadership of the Saharan Arab
Democratic Republic (counterclockwise
from top): Mohamed Abdelaziz, General
Secretary and President of the Com-
mand Council, with the President of the
Popular Republic of Benin; Omar
Hadrami, Executive Committee and
Command Council Member;, Brahim
Hakin, Minister of Foreign Affairs;
Mohamed Salem Saleck, Information
Minister and PF Political Bureau
member.
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Above: Mohamed Lamine Ahmed,
Revolution Council member and Presi-
dent of the Council of Ministers. Below:
Brahim Ghali, Command Council mem-
ber and Defense Minister.
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Senghor demonstrated his pragma-
tism by condemning U.S. and Euro-
pean military intervention in Africa
while watching French jets take off
from their Dakar base on their way
to bomb the Polisario.

While expressing support for
Hassan's claims over a ‘‘greater
Morocco,”” he had reasons for
fearing the presence of Moroccan
troops on Senegal’s river border
with Mauritania. Anticipating the
latter's ultimate collapse, Senghor
even considered a division of
Mauritania between himself and
Morocco. He pointed to the ethnic
divisions of Mauritania and the logic
of the ethnically and culturally
related southern black populations
joining with Senegal. He even
accused Mauritania _of discrimi-
nating against blacks.23

Senghor's consistent support for
Morocco’s claims to the Western
Sahara has made him continually
fearful of attack from the Polisario
and necessitated stationing troops
along the borders of Senegal with
Mauritania and Mali, a burdensome
expense for his troubled economy.

Senegal’'s dependence on French
and, more recently U.S., aid has
insured Senghor’s accord with the
policies of these countries on a wide
number of international issues. As
might be expected, Senegal’s Arab
relations are with so-called moder-
ate states; Algeria and especially
Libya are regarded as threats.
Before his retirement, Senghor's
fears of his own conservative
Muslim opposition led him to
denounce what he called Libya’s
destabilizing activities in Senegal
and to cut diplomatic ties with that
country. {Since his retirement there
is some evidence that Senegal's
policy may be shifting.)

Tensions generated by the conflict
in the Western Sahara have also
spilled over into Mali. As noted
earlier, Morocco’s delineation of
“greater Morocco” includes sec-
tions of the northern Mali desert.
Initially President Traoré of Mali
supported the division of the
Western Sahara as arranged in
Madrid because he hoped it would
keep Hassan out of Mauritania and
thus away from his own long
frontier. Algeria’s influence on Mali
subsequently swung Malian support
toward the Polisario. Polisario bases

were set up in Mali and before 1979
battles between the Polisario and
Mauritanian forces were fought
there.

Mali’'s status is no less vulnerable
than Senegal's. Traoré's coup
against Modibo Keita, in 1968, re-
placed an anti-French radical gov-
ernment with the present ‘“moder-
ate,” “interim” military regime. Im-
poverished, drought-ridden Mali
accepts aid from virtually any
source: China, U.S.S.R., North
Korea, Cuba, U.S., Arab conserva-
tives. Uranium discoveries in 1978
brought Japanese and French
investment. The U.S. is prospecting
for oil there, the U.S.S.R. for gold.
its military is small, consisting of
4,000 men, several light tanks and
MIG planes. French aid increased
following a visit from Giscard
d'Estaing in 1977, which caused
Mali again to turn toward Morocco.
But the objectives of the Polisario
are widely supported by the people.

When Mali became independent in
1960 the nomads of Mali’s Adrar des
Iforas attempted to persuade the
Algerians to take over their region,
and recent drought victims have
often preferred to seek aid from
neighboring states rather than from
Mali. In 1962-63, there was an up-
rising in Adrar des Iforas and 15
years later, just after Giscard
d’Estaing’s visit with his promise of
increased aid, b imprisoned leaders
were executed. This action may
have been related to Polisario’s
threat to retaliate against Mali's
reversal of policy by rearming the
northern nomad dissidents. It was
only on the very eve of the OAU
summit on July 4, 1980, that Mali
again reversed its policy and recog-
nized the SADR.

Niger, another French-dominated
economy, has only recently taken a
more independent stance by inviting
countries besides France to exploit
its uranium wealth. Like Mali,
Niger's leaders are keenly aware
that many nomads within their
borders want an ethnically unified
state in the western desert. Ould
Daddah had tried to convince
Senegal, Mali, and Niger that the
Polisario was an invention of Algeria
as part of a wider scheme to
promote that objective and bring
about their combined downfall. As a
result, Niger has sidestepped recog-
nition of the SADR.

Togo also has economic ties to
France and Morocco which directly
affect its policy toward the Western
Sahara. Phosphate is the chief
source of export earnings of this
small country. When the Togolese
government recognized the SADR
in 1976, Morocco immediately with-
drew its financial and technical
assistance in the phosphate indus-
try. In addition, Morocco banned all
exports to Togo.

That Libya has given support to the
Polisario has been a further source
of division and confusion among
African states. Libya's close ties
with the Soviet Union, its “Green-
book” Islamic socialism, Kaddafi's
willingness to give refuge to such
diverse personalities as ‘Emperor’’
Bokassa (Central African Republic),
Idi Amin (Uganda), and Ahmet
Niasse (Senegal) and the recent
involvement of Libyan military
forces in Chad have raised doubts
among African leaders about Libya’s
motives in black Africa. Moreover,
Kaddafi’'s support for South African
groups opposing apartheid has not
been enthusiastic.

Since there is no critical press within
Libya, information about this coun-
try and the intentions of its leader
are based largely upon Western
news sources that emphasize
Kaddafi's avowed aim to create a
radical Islamic bloc in black Africa
under Libyan aegis. This has led
more than one African state to fear
influence extended through Libyan
aid. On the other hand, some
African leaders have used the
*Kaddafi bogey’’ as an excuse to
repress internal dissidents.

For the Polisario, Libya is only one
source of arms and support. In fact,
before the peace treaty with Mauri-
tania, relations between Libya and
the Polisario were strained; Libya
greatly reduced its contributions
because the Polisario had attacked
and damaged Libyan-funded devel-
opment projects in Mauritania.

Libyan support is, nevertheless, a
very sensitive matter for the
Polisario and their representatives
are careful to draw attention to
other sources of aid. More recently,
however, the U.S. government's
unequivocal support for Morocco
may have pushed the Polisario to
lean more heavily on Libya.
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President of Senegal Leopold
Senghor, before his retirement,
seized on fear of Libyan interven-
tion to crack down on Muslim
groups who opposed his govern-
ment although there was little or
no evidence to suggest connec-
tions with Libya. (Ahmet Niasse,
son of an influential Muslim
leader, went to Libya where he
made many radical pronounce-
ments, only after he attempted to
assume his deceased father’s
role, but was not taken seriously
in Senegal.) This convenient
scapegoat was also employed in
the Gambia to justify the arrest of
a small number of people who
had been outspoken in their
criticism of blatant government
corruption and mismanagement.
These arrests coincided with the
arrival of Senegalese troops who
came to patrol the streets of
Banjul, emphasizing the precari-
ous independence of this small
country. {The logic of its separate
existence as a state has been
questioned since the early days of
colonial expansion.)

The campaign by the Ghanaian
government to discredit the June
4 revolution and, in particular, to
raise suspicions over the ambi-
tions of Jerry Rawlings, chairman
of the Armed Forces Revolution-
ary Council, also exploited pos-
sible ties between Rawlings and
Kaddafi after the Ghanaian visited
Libya in summer 1980; rumors
spread through government (and
diplomatic) circles in Accra
implying that Rawlings would not
return until he had arranged for
Libyan financing of another coup.
During the first week of Decem-
ber 1980 the Ghanaian press
reported anti-Libyan demonstra-
tions in Niamey and raised local
fears by claiming that a “’Niger
Brigade of the Sahel Army’’ had
been formed in Libya and was

“THE KADDAFI BOGEY"'

preparing for an expansion of the
“Libyan zone of influence in
Africa.” Ghana, Gabon, Senegal,
and the Gambia have all broken
diplomatic ties with Libya alleging
interference in their internal
affairs.?

Nigeria, alarmed over signs of
Libyan activities on its frontier,
nearly took similar action in 1980,
after two Libyan aircraft landed at
Maiduguri, the pilots explaining
that they had run out of fuel while
searching for a third plane which
had been lost in the desert.

Libya has been accused of
enlisting Nigerians as mercenaries
to fight in Chad,? and Kaddafi
has criticized Nigeria along with
Mali for having ill-treated its
Tuareg-Arab refugees, subjecting
them to ““undignified labor.” He
called on Nigeria to repatriate
them all to Libya where they
would be welcomed as fellow
Arab citizens. Nigeria even sug-
gested that Kaddafi may have
had a hand in the Kano riots in
December 1980.°

While the movement of Libyan
troops into Chad at the invitation
of the leader of one side of this
long and bitter civil war has
greatly increased alarms over
Kaddafi, some have used this fear
to advantage: it was only
necessary for Sergeant Doe to
threaten to visit Libya to bring
more American aid to Liberia’s
rescue.?

Another perspective on the
Libyan ““bogeyman’” was given
by Dr. Yusufu Bala Usman, a
leading Nigerian intellectual and
adviser to the governor of
Kaduna State in an open letter to
the Nigerian government which
appeared in West Africa. He
pointed to the advantages to
Western (particularly France's)

interests of exaggerating the
Libyan threat and reminded
readers of the large number of
French troops present in various
African countries and how these
military ties were connected with
economic interests. He recalled
how Bokassa had been removed
by French paratroopers and
suggested that the increased
French military presence in the
Central African Repubilic, far from
protecting the country from
Libya, might have been a
convenient way of influencing
local elections. Nigeria's leaders,
he cautioned, should be wary of
the “chauvinistic and racialist
propaganda’” of the Western
media which distorted Libya’s
intentions and which were being
used to bring Nigeria to the
“brink of war,” in the meantime
encouraging them to expend
money on arms to protect the
country against an imagined
threat of Libyan invasion. By so
doing, he asserted, Nigeria would
find itself defending “French
imperialist interests in Central
Africa and servlingl NATO’s
current global strategy.”” Re-
ferring to the recent visit of Lord
Carrington and some British
businessmen to Nigeria, he
reminded them that “The arms
salesmen and commission agents
are already on the move.""®

Libya also exports crude oil to
France and is the third largest
supplier to the U.S., providing 11
percent of its consumption.® On
May 6, 1981, the U.S. ordered the
Libyan diplomatic corps out of
the country, technically stopping
just short of a total break in dip-
lomatic relations. In reply Libya
denied that it had any expansion-
ist aims in Africa or that it was, as
had been claimed, a ‘‘potential
staging area for the Soviet
Union.”7?

1. Daily Times (Nigeria), December 1,
1980; Daily Graphic (Nigeria), Decem-
ber 1980.

2. Daily Times, November 27 and
December 1, 1980.

3. West Africa, January 12, 1981.

4. Guardian, December 2, 1980; West
Africa, December 8, 1980.

B. West Africa, March 7, 1981.

6. Guardian, May 7, 1981.

7. Guardian, May 16, 1981. Also see
West Africa, June 1, 1981 for Presi-
dent Siaka Stevens’ comments on
Kaddafi.
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Morocco, more and more isolated
internationally, has recently
launched an intense diplomatic
campaign to raise fears of the
Libyan menace, sending special
emissaries to 90 countries in Africa,
Asia, the Middle East, Europe, and
the Americas. One of King Hassan’s
top aides recently paid a personal
call on Margaret Thatcher: the
dossier he presented alleges that
Libya has built secret air bases in
Chad, Mali, and Mauritania from
which it supplies the Polisario and it
draws attention to Libya’s increased
Soviet backing {(overlooking the fact
that some of Morocco’s own mili-
tary aid comes directly from the
Soviet Union). In a recent press con-
ference in London, Mr. Mohammad
Ouid Sidati, a senior Polisario repre-
sentative, challenged Moroccan
claims and referred to Hassan’s cam-
paign against Kaddafi as “a diplo-
matic waltz danced to the rhythm of
intransigence and deception.”

The Religious Factor

Islam profoundly affects politics in
Africa to a degree that has never
been properly appreciated by West-
ern policymakers. For centuries,
Morocco has been the seat of re-
ligious authority for northwest
Africa, King Hassan claiming direct
descent from the Prophet. Many
Moroccan Muslims are members of
the Tijaniya sect; the founder, an
Algerian, was educated in Morocco.
Most West African Muslims belong
to this sect, but there are many
other orthodoxies in Morocco as
elsewhere in West Africa.

Morocco is seen by the West as one
of the moderate Islamic states,
whereas the Sahrawi brand of Islam
may be more radical because of the
Polisario’s association with Libya,
where most of the people are
followers of the ldrisia sect. Within
Morocco, moreover, over the past
two vyears several non-Tijaniya
have attacked Hassan's divine right
to rule. Fundamentalists in Morocco
have attacked the King’s hypocrisy,
reproaching him for his ostentatious
life in his ten palaces while the coun-
try suffers economic hardship
caused by the war. In 1980 there
was a wave of arrests in Morocco
after the discovery that Moroccans
were among those captured in the
aftermath of the attack on the
Grand Mosque in Mecca.

The Muslim Brotherhood is also
active in Morocco. Originating in

Egypt, the Brotherhood began as a
religious and moral reformist organi-
zation. Some of its missionaries now
sanction the imposition of an Islamic
state through violence where neces-
sary. Muslim Brotherhood influence
now extends into many parts of
West Africa, and rumors abound
alleging support for it from Saudi
Arabia or Iran.

The political situation is thus com-
plicated by competition among the
differing orthodoxies, and it is this
that sometimes explains otherwise
inexplicable alliances. Nigeria, for
example, has recognized the Poli-
sario, but it was not among the 26
African states to recognize the
SADR. Many Nigerians say that
President Shagari’'s support for the
Polisario has been diluted by the
Islamic factor. Shagari comes from
Sokoto, an important seat of Islamic
power with direct links with the re-
ligious establishment in Morocco
and it is felt that unless the people
from the south of Nigeria bring more
pressure to bear, his support for the
SADR may never go beyond
rhetoric. Moreover, it is said that
Nigeria is still under obligation to
Morocco for its support during the
Biafran war.

U.S./France/South Africa
Connections

In his report to the U.S. Committee
on Foreign Affairs in 1979, Repre-
sentative Stephen Solarz argued
that U.S. military support to
Morocco “is compatible neither
with our ideals nor our interests.”
Earlier, Thomas Franck, an inter-
national lawyer, had pointed out
that U.S. support of Morocco's

GMC trucks and U.S.-made mortar
rounds captured by the Polisario.

expansionism was a blatant contra-
diction of its principles, warning the
American government of the grave
consequences of their actions. As
he said, it may be argued that this
policy is one of political expediency,
but concern for winning is inevitably
taking priority over concern for the
rule of law.24

Ironically, U.S. and French arms
have been used by both sides in the
Western Sahara, the Polisario
having captured arms from its
enemy. As one combatant said as |
was being shown some of the cap-
tured arms, ““The Front is especially
pleased with the performance of the
GMC trucks for desert warfare.” |
saw a great many GMC trucks
around the refugee camps.

As early as 1977 Polisario seizures of
arms and ammunition revealed that
among Morocco’s active friends
was South Africa. Photographs and
statements by captured Moroccan
officers testify to the presence of




South African military advisers and
technicians in Morocco. There is
evidence to suggest wider com-
plicity: in 1979, for example, when
Rabat placed an urgent order with
France, armed AML-90MM troop
carriers, manufactured under French
license in South Africa, arrived in
Morocco.

The growing public opinion in the
U.S. against Morocco, fueled by
evidence of cooperation between
South Africa, the U.S., and France,
resulted in 1978 in a freeze on arms
sales to Morocco. Hassan was out-
raged, threatening to withdraw
support for President Sadat’s
détente with Israel. Subsequently, in
acknowledging that Morocco was
violating American law by employ-
ing U.S. weapons in the Western
Sahara, the government decided
not to replace the F-5 aircraft or the
OV-10 Bronco counterinsurgency
aircraft Hassan had requested,
although it ““might sell helicopter
gunships to be used in the event of a
main-force engagement with Al-
geria.” (In 1978 Hassan was still
claiming that his war was essentially
with Algeria.) At about the same
time, Northrup Page confirmed a
contract for a $200 million electronic
surveillance system to be built in
Morocco and paid for by Saudi
Arabia. Those who backed this sale
argued that the system should not
be included in the embargo since it
was not actually a weapon. Presi-
dent Carter was also reminded that
he held the veto over decisions of
the Office of Munitions Control,
which opposed the sale.

After a visit to Morocco, the U.S.
Deputy Secretary of State said such
sales would mean ‘‘that a
strengthened Morocco will be better
able to seek and achieve a just and
peaceful solution.””25 Senator Ken-
nedy, on the other hand, pointed
out that U.S. foreign policy must
both serve the needs of its allies
and, at the same time promote inter-
national peace. To continue arms
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sales to Morocco would ‘“‘nourish
the conflict”” rather than encourage
peaceful negotiation. He reminded
the government that King Hassan
had ‘“‘never shown any inclination
towards negotiations’ and this sale
would only prolong the conflict and
reduce the possibility of a nego-
tiated agreement. And he laid
emphasis on one of the greatest
dangers of continued military sup-
port for the war: “It will eventually
weaken Morocco.”' 26

In November 1979 Carter was given
the go-ahead to provide Morocco
with more arms, including heli-
copters, gunships, and aircraft.27
The new Reagan administration has
maintained this policy, even
dropping the condition that Mo-
rocco should seek a negotiated
peace.

Global Strategy and Super Power
Politics

French international affairs analyst
and Sahrawi sympathizer Elsa
Assidon sees the conflict in North-
west Africa as part of the larger
tangle of international, and specifi-
cally U.S., concern over the
Mediterranean and the Middle
East.28 Political turbulence in Mo-
rocco in 1974 and Franco’s immi-
nent death in Spain produced
anxiety over secure access to the
region. The result has been a flurry
of new agreements to influence
NATO alignment, siting of radar
detection systems, and use of air
bases. Since the revolution in Iran,
according to these arguments, the
strategic importance of a Moroccan
alliance has increased and sympathy
for progressive liberation move-
ments has diminished.

The war for influence is waged
economically too, and nowhere do
politics and economics become
more complicated than in arms
deals. France is the third largest
supplier of arms to the Third World,
the U.S. being first and the U.S.S.R.
second.29
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5. The mission’s report included some
interesting comments on the djemaa,
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In both Algeria and Morocco,
France and the United States have
found themselves in direct eco-
nomic competition, and in 1975 the
U.S. surpassed France as Algeria’s
chief economic partner. At the same
time, the importance of preserving
their footholds in these countries
has forced them to work together to
influence those ‘“moderate” forces
in Algeria and to prop up the reac-
tionary regime of King Hassan Il in
Morocco.

No one knows how Mitterrand’s
new socialist government will deal
with the many intricacies and con-
tradictions in African foreign policy
it has inherited. Already the French
Socialist Party has announced there
will be a “radical change in foreign
policy’” toward South Africa: it
supports sanctions, a rapid reduc-
tion in imports from South Africa,
an end to all public investment, and
a total arms embargo. It has also
promised political and diplomatic
support to SWAPQO and humani-
tarian aid to the refugees in
Namibia. And it has given “every
indication that France would take a
leading role in opposing the United
States’ influence on the other coun-
tries of the Contact Group—Britain,
France, Canada, and West Ger-
many.’’30 France’s domestic eco-
nomic problems are Mitterand’s first
concern, however, although this too
will necessarily affect events in
Africa, given the close economic
ties.

I I

Although this discussion has
touched on only a few of the ele-
ments of American and French
economic and military involvement
on the continent of Africa, it should
be clear why groups supporting the
Polisario’s fight to achieve inde-
pendence describe it as basically an
anti-imperialist struggle.

(August 1981)

the local administrative body set up by
Spain after 1958. It noted that the
members ‘‘depend considerably for
guidance on the Spanish authorities”
and were “largely of the older and more
conservative element in Saharan soci-
ety, owing to the method whereby they
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are chosen.” The report also observed
that Morocco had denounced the “‘so-
called assembly,”” which they claimed
could only endorse decisions taken by
the colonial authorities.
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